1978

# Connie Lou Switzer et al v. Bryce C. Reynolds et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This action is for the wrongful death of Gordon Switzer who died as the result of an accident on June 24, 1963, and is brought pursuant to Section 78-11-7 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. Mr. Switzer was killed while operating a Model 175A, Clark Michigan Front End Loader (the loader). This suit was brought by Louella R. Switzer Bowles, the widow of the deceased on behalf of the five Switzer Children.

At the time of the death of their father, all five children were minors, ranging in age from one month to 6-1/2 years. Suit was brought against Bryce C. Reynolds, (Reynolds), formerly doing business as Reynolds Sand and Gravel, the employer of the decedent, and owner of the loader; Foulger Equipment Company, (Foulger) as the seller to Reynolds of the loader; and Clark Equipment Company, (Clark) the manufacturer of the loader. On September 7, 1977, plaintiffs and Foulger settled their differences and a stipulation and order of dismissal with prejudice was entered.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Suit was filed on October 23, 1974. From that date until October 3, 1977, intensive discovery was conducted by the plaintiffs in preparing their case for trial. During that nearly three-year period, 17 depositions were taken, numerous motions were argued before the court and the case had been set for trial four times. the last of which was October 3, 1977. Plaintiff was ordered at one of those hearings to pay the full amount of defendant's costs and attorney's fees of \$70.00 per hour in connection with certain discovery which effectively prevented plaintiffs' discovery and

notice of intent to appeal was filed. The court failed to rule on plaintiffs' motions for costs and attorney's fees in connection with two motions to compel discovery against Clark Equipment Company. On August 15, 1977, Clark Equipment Company filed a Motion to Dismiss based on the ground that plaintiffs' cause of action expired by the Statute of Limitations, Section 78-12-28, U.C.A. (1953; as amended). On August 31, 1977 defendant Reynolds filed a motion for summary judgment on the grounds that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact. On September 7, 1977, defendant Reynolds filed a brief in support of his Motion to Dismiss alleging that the defendant committed no acts of negligence, that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations and that the plaintiffs' claim has been discharged in bankruptcy. Argument was had on the pending motions on September 16, 1977, and on January 17, 1978, the judge granted defendants' motions. Plaintiffs then appealed.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs/Appellants seek reversal of the District Court's summary judgment and, ruling on motions and remand for trial on the merits.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 24, 1963, Gordodon Switzer was an adult male, in good health and working for Bryce C. Reynolds, formerly doing business as Reynolds Sand & Gravel Company. He was instructed to drive a Clark Equipment Company front-end loader, Model 175A, (the loader) down the State Highway in Parley's Canyon from a point near Kimble Junction to Reynolds' main pit in Salt Lake City. Just above the

Mountain Dell Reservoir Dam the machine tipped over on Switzer, killing him almost instantaneously. The only eye witness to the incident, Mr. Jack Thompson, testified that he was driving slowly uphill at the time, that he saw the incident clearly and that Gordon Switzer appeared to have no problem with the machine but that he drove it across the highway and that the machine then tipped over..

Shortly after Switzer's death, a claim was filed with the Utah State Industrial Commission, Workmen's Compensation Division, but the Department determined that Bryce C.Reynolds, the employer, was not covered. Shortly before Switzer's death, the defendant Reynolds had been operating under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Act. He subsequently amended his petition to include a claim by Louella R. Switzer. Suit was filed on October 23, 1974 by Louella R. Switzer Bowles as guardian ad litem for the five minor children of the decedent. Reynolds filed an answer alleging discharge in bankruptcy and the running of the statute of limitations, Section 70A-12-28, U.C.A. (1953, as amended). Clark filed an answer alleging the statute of limitations had run but did not allege any specific section of the Utah Code.

Motions were argued on September 16, 1977, and on January 17, 1978, the judge entered his order. Plaintiffs urged the court to consider the long-pending motion for the award of attorney's fees and expenses in connection with certain discovery compelled from Clark Equipment Company. The judge declined to rule on the motion, granted summary judgment for defendants, and this appeal was instituted.

A R G U M E N T

POINT I.

THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND IT WAS ERROR TO GRANT DEFENDANT REYNOLDS' AND CLARK'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT UNDER RULE 56(C) UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Rule 56(c) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part:

. . . the judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to Interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Before summary judgment can be properly granted, it is necessary that judgment be free from doubt and that as a remedy, summary judgment should be granted with great caution. Green v. Garm, 11 Ut.2d 375, 359 P.2d 1050; Henry v. Washiki Club, Inc., 11 Ut. 2d 1138, 355 P.2d 973; Watkins v. Simmons, 11 Ut. 2d 46, P.2d 852.

The plaintiffs' theory of liability against defendants Clark and Reynolds specifically stated in their answers to Clark's and Reynolds' interrogatories supplemented answers which were served on the 8th day of February, 1977, provides in pertinent part:

Defects in the design of the brake system in providing inadequate brake capacity, failure to provide fail-safe system; design of the steering system in creating a vehicle which was apparently unstable under certain conditions; failure to provide fail safe power steering assist systems; failure to provide warnings to operators of the brake and steering defect design deficiency; failure to provide adequate roll-over protective structures....

The answer continues:

- (a) Inadequate brake capacity or inadequate power brake assist for the tractor's shovels intended foreseeable and actual use.
- (b) Inadequate power steering assist for excessive effort unless engine speed was kept up.
- (c) Design of engine declutching mechanism which operates whenever brakes are applied. Effect of said mechanism is to: Eliminate engine braking, reduce power steering assist by reduction of engine speed, enhance power steering pump speed; reduce power brake assist by reduction in engine speed, enhance power brake vacuum speed, and . . .  
. . .
- (g) Failure to provide warnings to the operator of the above defects;
- (h) Failure to provide adequate instructions to the operator about emergency situations and in particular about defect (c) above.
- (i) Failure to restrict use of vehicle to its safe uses.

In addition, as to Reynolds, the answers state:

- (j) Violation of Utah Statute: 41-6-111, Coasting Prohibited; 41-6-117 Vehicle in Unsafe Condition; 41-6-144 Brake Equipment; 41-6-155 Requirement that Vehicle be in Safe Mechanical Condition; 35-1-12 Places of Employment to be Safe; 35-1-46 Failure to Secure compensation; and 35-1-57 Non-Compliance-Penalty.

The primary thrust of liability against defendant Reynolds is because of Reynolds' failure to have in effect at the time of Switzer's death workmen's compensation insurance. That failure reverses the normal burden of proof and makes the defendant prove he was not negligent. Section 35-1-57, U.C.A. (1953, as amended), above, states in pertinent part:

In any such action the defendant shall not avail himself of any of the following defenses: Defense of the fellow servant rule; Defense of assumption of risk or the defense of contributory negligence. Proof of the injury shall constitute prima facie evidence of negligence on the part of the employer to show freedom from negligence resulting in such injury.

Reynolds has admitted that Gordon Switzer was employed by at the time of his death and that he was acting in the scope of employment. Based on the presumption created by failure to secure workmen's compensation, it is the duty of Reynolds to show that he was not negligent. The affidavits which Reynolds submitted deal only with the operation of the machine subsequent to the accident. The affidavits submitted are not inconsistent with plaintiff's allegations of design defects in the brake and steering system, and certainly do not reach the standard of proof required for the granting of summary judgment. The evidence on file clearly shows, or indicates, that the machine in question, even if properly maintained, could not comply with Utah statutes dealing with brake performance.

As specifically alleged, the brake equipment was not capable of meeting the standard set by Section 41-6-144, U.C.A. (1953, as amended). The section provides that for any motor vehicle operated upon a highway shall be equipped with brakes adequate to control the movement of and to stop and hold vehicle. For the loader which weighed some 24,000 pounds, a stopping distance of 40 feet or a deceleration of 14 feet per second or the equivalent braking force in percentage of vehicle or combination weight of 43.5%. And yet, Walter Black, the chief safety engineer for Clark, testified that even at 1500 pounds per square inch in the braking system and 175 pounds on the brake pedal, the machine

would only stop at 8 feet per second, about half of the statutory minimum. Moreover, Clark's own information provided in response to discovery, namely, their Drawing No. KXB-76462 shows a 1500 pounds per square inch is the maximum which the brake system is capable. Thus, Clark's own expert has testified the brakes were only about half as good as the minimum legal requirement. Moreover, the defect in the brake system is corroborated by the deposition of Mr. Keith Perry. At the relevant period in time, Mr. Perry was a service manager of the defendant Foulger Equipment Company. Mr. Perry testified that he was in charge of maintaining this machine and that it was reconditioned. He testified further that the machine had all required service done on it and that Clark Equipment Company's parts and procedures and methods were used at all times. Mr. Perry further testified that he checked the brakes approximately one week before and one week after the accident and that everything on this machine appeared to be okay but that it was incapable of skidding the tires on dry pavement. The evidence on file further shows that there were no skid marks at the point where the machine tipped over.

Plaintiff has also alleged that the steering design was defective. The defects exist on all similar machines even if properly maintained. The loader had power steering which used an engine-driven pump to force hydraulic oil into a steering cylinder. One defect was a pump which was too small and used excessive steering effort to steer the loader at low vehicle speeds. A second and concealed defect is a declutching valve in



the transmission. When the brakes are used the brake pressure automatically shifts the machine into neutral, declutching the engine from the wheels. This is described in the Clark Operator's Manual No. 1169 in Section 200, pages 2 and 3:

This valve is connected to the brake system master cylinder by a hydraulic line. When the wheel brakes are applied, brake fluid enters the valve and overcomes the spring force. This force is to slide to shift over and block pressure from entering the directional clutches. In this manner a "neutral" is established without moving the control levers.

When Switzer stepped on the brakes as Jack Thompson's deposition indicates, the steering effort became excessive, causing or contributing to Switzer's death. There is no evidence that defendant Reynolds furnished any warnings to Switzer of either of these defects and since it is his duty under the presumption created under the workmen's compensation law to prove he was free from negligence, it is improper to grant summary judgment.

It is a policy of law to favor trial on the merits and to afford both sides full opportunity to present their evidence and citations as to disputed issues so they may be disposed of on substantial rather than technical grounds. McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, 17 Ut.2d 323, 411 P.2d 129 (1966).

When the burden of proof is shifted to Reynolds, the statements regarding stopping distance, the deposition of Clark's own expert, the deposition of Keith Perry, and the inference that Switzer was free from negligence, are construed together, it is apparent that a genuine issue of material fact does exist for submission to the jury.

POINT II.

DEFENDANTS CLARK AND REYNOLDS ARE BARRED AND ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BECAUSE OF FAILURE TO PLEAD THE PROPER SECTION OF THE UTAH CODE IN A TIMELY MANNER.

Neither defendant Clark nor defendant Reynolds have pleaded the appropriate statutory section in their answer. Defendant Clark in their answer pled only that the plaintiffs' claim was barred by the Utah Code and cited no statutory section. Defendant Reynolds pled specifically that plaintiffs' claim was barred by Section 70-12-28, U.C.A. (1953 as amended). If any statute of limitations applies it would be Section 78-12-28 U.C.A. (1953, as amended). Utah law is settled on this point. The statute must be pleaded. Tanner v. Provo Reservoir Co., 78 Ut. 158, 2 P.2d 107; Utah Delaware Mining Co., v. Industrial Commission, 76 Ut. 187, 289 P.94. Moreover, Utah holds that the statute must be pleaded in proper time and manner and that only the section pleaded is effective and further that if the statute is not pleaded correctly it cannot be relied on. American Theater Co. v. Glasmann, 95 Ut. 303, 80 P.2d 922.

Also in accord is In Re Linfords' Estate, 207 P.2d 1033, where the court overruled the lower court's sustentation of a demurrer, stating at page 1034:

It has long been the law in the state that a demurrer on the ground that the cause of action is barred by the statute of limitations which does not state the section of the code relied upon is insufficient.

Furthermore, neither defendant has not plead the statute of limitations with sufficient clarity to identify the section and subsection relied upon as required by Rule 9(h) Utah Rules

of Civil Procedure, because of the inadequate plea, it should not, therefore, be considered on appeal. Wasatch Mines Company v. Hopkinson, 465 P.2d 1007.

In pleading the statute of limitations, it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied upon, referring to or describing such statute specifically and definitely by section number, subsection designation, if any, or otherwise designating the provision relied upon sufficiently to identify it. If such allegation is controverted, the party pleading the statute must establish, on the trial, the facts showing that the cause of action is so barred.

From the foregoing, it is apparent that neither Clark nor Reynolds can rely upon the statute of limitations.

In addition, equitable estoppel in a proper case may be invoked to prevent defendants from relying on the statute. Through almost three years of discovery and court hearing, neither defendant acted to have the plaintiffs' Complaint dismissed for running of the statute of limitations. This case has been unduly complicated, costly, and time consuming. Through all of this, and after three trial settings, the defendants still did not act to assert their alleged right. In fact, it was not until six weeks before the fourth trial date that defendants filed their motion and not until two weeks prior to trial that the motions were argued. Had the trial not been vacated for other problems with the docket, the two-week scheduled trial would have been had. Clearly,

this is not the purpose of the statute of limitations. Furthermore, previous orders of the court indicated that the parties were to take all proper steps to dispose of the case as soon as possible. Quoting in pertinent part from an order of the court dated April 29, 1976, almost a year and a half prior to the court trial setting:

". . . certain parties have not acted expeditiously to move this matter towards trial."

It is clear the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense which must be brought to the attention of the court in a timely and appropriate manner. The doctrine of equitable estoppel has been recognized in several cases. In the case of Weir v. Bauer, 75 Ut. 498, 286 P. 936, the court recognized the doctrine in a case of a corporation with a large stockholder. The doctrine was also recognized in the case of Rice v. Granite School District, 23 Ut.2d 22, 456 P.2d 159, involving the injury due to a fall from a bleacher. Reversing a motion for summary judgment for defendant the court said that plaintiff's failure to act in a timely manner was due to wrongful representations and misleading statements of the defendants. Again the doctrine was recognized in the case of Whitaker v. Salt Lake City Corp., 522 P.2d 1252. The court upheld the doctrine even though it was the plaintiff's attorney who was lulled into inaction. In this case, the plaintiffs have expended vast amounts of time and money in preparing their case for trial and through all of this in the numerous court hearings the defendants have not acted to move forward their motion based on the affirmative defense of the

statute of limitations. Clearly, where there is an affirmative duty to bring the statute of limitations to the court's attention in a timely manner, the failure to do so should invoke the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

POINT III.

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM HAS NOT BEEN DISCHARGED IN BANKRUPTCY

A. Statement of Facts:

Reynolds' petition in bankruptcy was filed on May 2, 1968, and Reynolds was discharged in bankruptcy on August 30, 1968. Plaintiffs' claim arose on the date of Gordon Switzer's death: a claim for benefits with Utah State Industrial Commission on July 6, 1963. Plaintiffs commenced this action against Reynolds in October 1974.

Title II, Section 35 of the Bankruptcy Act provides that:

A discharge in bankruptcy releases a bankrupt from all his provable debts.

Title II, Section 103 lists the debts which may be proved and allowed against a bankrupt's estate - said act provides in part as follows:

A-1 "A fixed liability, as evidenced by a judgment or an instrument in writing absolutely owing at the time of the filing of the petition by or against him, whether then payable or not, with any interest thereon which would have been recoverable at the date or with a rebate of interest when such as were not then payable and did not bear interest . . .

A-5 "Provable debts reduced to judgments after the filing of the petition and before the consideration of the bankrupt's application for a discharge, less costs incurred and interest accrued after the filing of the petition and before the consideration of the

bankrupt's application for a discharge, less costs incurred and interest accrued after the filing of the petition and up to the time of the entry of such judgments."

A-6 "An award of an industrial accident commission, body, or officer of any state having jurisdiction to make awards of workmen's compensation in case of injury or death from injury, if such injury occurred prior to adjudication."

A-7 "The right to recover damages in any action for negligence instituted prior to and pending at the time of the filing of the petition in bankruptcy. . ."

On the date Reynolds filed a petition in bankruptcy and on the date of adjudication and discharge, no action had been commenced for the recovery of damages by plaintiffs. An unliquidated claim with the Industrial Commission was pending on the date of adjudication only.

Unliquidated claims for tort are not provable in bankruptcy.

Pindel v. Holgate (CA9) 221 F. 342;  
Talcott v. Friend (CA7) 179 F. 676,  
affd 228 U.S. 27, 57 L. Ed. 718, 33  
S. Ct. 505; Brown v. United Button Co.  
(CA 3) 149 F. 48; Poznanovic v. Gilardine,  
174 Minn. 89, 218 N.W. 244, 57 A.L.R. 148;  
Winfree v. Jones, 104 Va 39, 51 SE 153;  
10 A.L.R. 851.

Only provable debts are discharged in bankruptcy:

Crawford v. Burke, 195 U.S. 176, 49 L.  
Ed. 147, 25 S. Ct 9; Audubon v. Shufeldt,  
181 U.S. 575, 45 L. Ed. 1009, 21 S. Ct 735.

Friend v. Talcott, 228 U.S. 27, 57 L. Ed.  
718, 33 S. Ct 505, affd (CA 7) 179 F. 676;  
Crawford v. Burke, 195 U.S. 176, 49 L. Ed.  
147, 25 S. Ct 9; Brookhaven Bank & Trust Co.  
v. Gwin (CA 5 Miss), 253 F. 2d 17; Eastman  
v. Hibbard, 54 NH 504.

Brown v. O'Keefe, 300 U.S. 598, 81 L. Ed. 827,  
57 S. Ct 543.

As an exception thereto, the Bankruptcy Act, Section 63 makes provable debts of the bankrupt founded upon the right to damages in any action for negligence where the action is ins: prior to and pending at the time of the filing of the petition in bankruptcy.

Neither this action, nor the claim filed with the Industrial Commission were instituted and pending prior or pending when Reynolds filed in bankruptcy on May 2, 1963. The earliest date a claim for damages in negligence could have been instituted is June 24, 1963. The claim filed with the Industrial Commission never processed to conclusion and no award was ever made and it was unliquidated.

A tort claim is not provable (and therefore not dischargeable) unless it falls within a specific statutory category (Section 63 (A) (7)).

Goldsmith v. Overseas Scientific Corp.  
(DC N4) 188 F. Supp. 530.

A claim which is not provable because it is not in existence at the time of filing of the petition in bankruptcy is not discharged.

Brown v. O'Keefe, 300 U.S. 598, 81 L. Ed. 827, 57 S. Ct 543.

In addition, the Switzers' claim was not discharged because of Reynolds' failure to properly schedule the Switzers' address and therefore give notice of the bankruptcy proceeding. Title II, Section 25 of the Bankruptcy Act provides in pertinent part:

. . . (8) prepare, make oath to, and file in court within five days after adjudication, if an involuntary bankrupt, and with his petition, if a voluntary bankrupt, a schedule of his property, the location thereof

and its money value, in detail; and a list of all his creditors, including all persons asserting contingent unliquidated, or disputed claims, showing their residence or places of business, if known, or if unknown that fact to be stated . . . (emphasis added)

Yet in Reynolds' amended schedule of September 15, 1965, the address of the Switzers is given as:

c/o Industrial Commission of Utah  
State Capitol Building  
Salt Lake City, Utah

While the address given may have been sufficient to discharge a claim by the Industrial Commission, it is not as to Switzers. In point of fact, Mrs. Switzer listed her address as 3211 South Second West, Salt Lake City, Utah in July 6, 1963, when she filed application with the Industrial Commission. Subsequent correspondence with the Industrial Commission indicates an address of 477 Moore, Pontiac, Michigan, on January 11, 1965. In September 1965 Reynolds did not send notice to either the correct city or state. Such defective notice is ineffective as to the Switzers.

Bucci v. LaRocca, 21 N.J. 316, 33 ATL (2d) 878;  
Van Denburgh v. Goodfellow, 19 Col. (2d) 217,  
120 P.2d 20; Salmon v. Sarno, 37 N.Y. 2d 870.

#### POINT IV.

PLAINTIFFS WERE PREVENTED NECESSARY DISCOVERY BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER AND BY FAILURE OF THE TRIAL COURT TO RULE ON MOTIONS TO AWARD PLAINTIFFS THEIR COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES.

#### A. Statement of Facts:

On August 27, 1976, plaintiffs served upon defendant Clark interrogatories and a request for production numbered 18 through 23. On October 14, 1976, Clark served its answers and partial



response to plaintiffs' request for production. In answer to No. 19, Clark objected to the production for inspection and copying of records on all loaders similar to the one involved in this lawsuit on the grounds that the request for production was too burdensome. Pursuant to motion and notice of hearing served December 10, 1976, hearing was had before the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow on December 17, 1976 on request No. 19 and several other matters. Due to the length of the file, Judge Snow declined to rule on plaintiffs' motion. Clark did furnish certain other information which resolved the other problems. Plaintiffs' motion was again noticed for hearing on February 11, 1977 at a scheduled pretrial conference. The pretrial conference was not had. The unresolved motion was again brought to the court's attention on March 30, 1977, and on May 7, 1977. On May 25, 1977, plaintiffs' motion was finally denied with leave to resubmit. On May 27, 1977 the motion was argued again and plaintiff was permitted the inspection provided that they pay to Clark their attorney's fees in advance - \$70.00 an hour. On June 16, 1977, plaintiffs filed notice of preservation of rights on appeal. In addition on September 16, 1977, plaintiffs served upon defendant Clark a demand for production of certain documents which would include records referred to above. Clark objected to the demand for production and argument was had on the demand on that date. The court considered the matter but did not rule on it.

A second matter relating to discovery concerns the depositions of Walter L. Black and M. L. Conrad, the former being a

present employee of Clark and the latter being a former employee of Clark. Plaintiffs noticed up the depositions of the two individuals at Benton Harbor, Michigan, the home office of Clark, for June 27, 1977. On May 12, 1977, Clark filed a motion for protective order asking for, among other things, that said discovery may be had only upon plaintiffs paying the cost of transportation and per diem for the defendant Clark Equipment Company's attorney to attend a taping of said deposition in Benton Harbor, Michigan. The motion was noticed up for May 25, 1977, and at the hearing on that date, plaintiffs were ordered to pay Clark that travel expense in advance. Following the hearing of May 27, 1977, the protective order was modified but not in any respect altering the payment of travel expenses. On June 20, 1977, plaintiffs amended the notice of taking of depositions of Black and Conrad to June 30, 1977. On June 29, 1977, ex parte and without notice, Clark Equipment applied to the court for a modification of the protective order and that modification was granted. The modification prevented plaintiff from asking any opinions or conclusions of the witnesses on the basis they were not discoverable. That modification is not a subject of this appeal. The depositions were taken on June 30, 1977 pursuant to the amended notice.

The third subject dealing with discovery is the award of certain costs and attorney's fees to the plaintiffs for Clark's failure to comply with discovery. On September 12, 1975, plaintiffs served upon Clark their set of interrogatories. Clark filed a general objection in October 1975. On April 27, 1976, the interrogatories were stricken on Rule 11 motion made by defendant Clark.

On April 28, 1976, Clark stipulated it would answer or object to the stricken interrogatories within 30 days without requiring re-service of those interrogatories. On May 24, 1976, Clark served its answers but its objections were not signed by the attorney as required by Rule 33A. On June 10, 1976, plaintiffs served their motion, notice and memorandum to compel defendant Clark to answer the interrogatories propounded by plaintiffs and, more specifically, to compel answers over the objections previously filed by Clark. Hearing was had on June 18, 1976. Plaintiffs submitted a 7-page memorandum in support of their motion. On the day scheduled for hearing, defendant Clark did not appear and plaintiffs obtained an order requiring Clark to supplement their answers within 30 days.

On July 12, 1976, Clark filed a motion to extend time to answer the interrogatories and noticed that up for hearing on August 12, 1976. That motion being supported by a 7-page memorandum. Pursuant to agreement between the parties, the August 12, 1976 hearing was continued without date and Clark subsequently filed a second supplemental answers to interrogatories.

Plaintiff served another set of interrogatories on Clark on March 18, 1977, and when the 30 days to answer or object expired. Plaintiffs filed its motion and 9-page memorandum for an order compelling Clark to answer those interrogatories on April 21, 1977. The matter was noticed up for hearing on May 9, 1977, and at that time Clark stipulated it would answer the interrogatories to the extent information was available and the pretrial order of that date so reflects.

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