1978

# Connie Lou Switzer et al v. Bryce C. Reynolds et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is suit brought by the widow and five children of Gordon Switzer, pursuant to Section 78-11-7, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), for the wrongful death of Gordon Switzer.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Appellants' statement as to the disposition in the lower court is correct.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Respondent seeks to have the judgment entered by the lower court against the Appellants sustained.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent agrees with the Appellants' Statement of Facts, with the exception of the Appellants' statement that Jack Thompson saw the incident clearly and concluded that Gordon Switzer appeared to have no problem with the machine.

In addition to the facts set forth in the Appellants' Statement of Facts, the Court should be aware of the following dates:

1. Birth dates of the Switzer children:

A. Connie Lou Switzer	October 25, 1956
B. Raymond Gordon Switzer	October 25, 1957
C. Donald Eugene Switzer	January 26, 1959
D. Rodney Dean Switzer	October 29, 1960
E. Therease Jo Switzer	May 22, 1963

2. Date of sale of the 175A front end loader by Clark:

August 25, 1956.

3. Date of the accident resulting in the death of Gordon Switzer: June 24, 1963.

4. Date on which Appellants filed the Complaint in this action: October 23, 1974.



POINT I

THE BURDEN WAS ON THE APPELLANTS, IN OPPOSITION TO THE RESPONDENT REYNOLDS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, TO SET FORTH SPECIFIC FACTS ESTABLISHING A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND FAILURE SO TO DO MADE SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROPER.

A. The Appellants were required by Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to establish a genuine issue of material fact.

The procedure to be followed by a party adverse to a Motion for Summary Judgment clearly is set forth in Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That subdivision provides in its entirety:

Supporting and opposing affidavit shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported, as provided in this Rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this Rule must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (emphasis added).

It has been the Respondents' contention throughout the proceedings in the lower court that the Appellants have no facts which support their allegations of negligence on the part of the Respondents. The Appellants have an abundance of

conclusions, but a dearth of facts supporting those conclusions. It was due to this scarcity of supporting facts that the Appellants were unable to meet the requirement of Subdivision (e) of Rule 56. That subdivision requires that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment establish specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial. The Appellants were required to establish those specific facts by affidavits, made upon personal knowledge, setting forth facts admissible in evidence.

As the record discloses, the Respondent Reynolds' Motion for Summary Judgment was supported by the Affidavits of Bryce Reynolds and Richard Reynolds. Those Affidavits were made upon personal knowledge and contain evidence admissible at trial. That evidence established that the 175A tractor was not defective and that the Respondent Reynolds was not negligent. The Appellants did not submit any affidavit whatsoever to contradict those submitted by the Respondent Reynolds nor did the Appellants, in their Memorandum in Opposition to Reynolds' Motion for Summary Judgment and the September 4, 1977, Memorandum referred to therein, cite any "depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits," as provided by Subdivision (e). The Appellants' Memorandum in Opposition to Respondent Reynolds' Motion for Summary Judgment contains nothing other than the Appellants' conclusions regarding the negligence of Reynolds and defects

in the 175A tractor. The Appellants completely failed to meet the burden placed upon them by Subdivision (e) of Rule 56. Now, on appeal, they wish, again, to ignore facts and argue conclusions. In no portion of Rule 56, the rule governing summary judgment actions, does it provide that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment may rely upon his conclusion as to the issues at hand. The purpose of the motion is to force a party to document facts which support his conclusion and his cause of action. When placed to this task, if a party cannot document the supporting facts, then there is no need to take the matter to trial. When the Appellants were placed to this task, they responded with self-serving conclusions. These conclusions, like any theory, are worthless without supporting foundation.

The lower court, when reviewing the memoranda and supporting documents placed before it by the Respondent Reynolds, and those filed by the Appellants, made the same determination. The Respondent Reynolds could document that it was not negligent and that the 175A tractor was not defective. His documentation met the criteria of Subdivision (e) of Rule 56. The Appellants responded with no facts which contradicted the testimony supplied in the Respondent Reynolds' affidavits, thus leaving the court with no alternative but to grant summary judgment in the Respondent Reynolds' favor. The court was bound by the provisions of Subdivision (e) which

required that "If he [the opposing party] does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him." Rule 56, Subdivision (e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

In addition to the direction given by Subdivision (e), the court was compelled, in an equitable manner, to enter summary judgment against the Appellants., The Respondents were being required to defend an action filed eleven years after the cause of action accrued. After commencing this action, the Appellants undertook extensive discovery of both Respondents, and, in the case of Clark, submitted, in the form of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents, 1,845 questions and 497 requests for production of documents. In response to this discovery Clark provided the Appellants with all the documents it had concerning the design and manufacture of the 175A tractor and attempted, to the best of its ability, to answer the 1,845 questions directed to it. It was not until this discovery was completed that the Respondents brought the motions now being reviewed by this Court. The Appellants had ample time within which to document specific facts upon which they would rely in establishing their causes of action. If such facts had existed, the Appellants would have found them. Instead, when the Respondents brought their Motions, the Appellants were unable to document these facts, as required by Subdivision (e) of Rule 56 and thereby failed in their opposition to the Motions.

## CONCLUSION

The provisions of Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, are clear. The Appellants did not meet their burden of establishing, upon personal knowledge and in a form admissible at trial, the facts which would indicate a genuine issue of material fact existing in this matter. The lower court properly ruled that Reynolds is entitled to summary judgment on the issues of its alleged negligence and the alleged defective condition of the 175A tractor.

## POINT II

THE APPELLANTS ARE BARRED FROM ASSERTING  
THE RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO PLEAD THE  
SPECIFIC SECTION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS  
BY THE APPELLANTS' FAILURE TO RAISE  
THIS ISSUE IN THE LOWER COURT

A. The Appellants' Failure to Raise in the Trial Court the Issue of Improper Pleading Prohibits Them from Raising It on Appeal. The Appellants take this appeal from the lower court's Order granting Reynolds' Motion for Summary Judgment and Clark's Motion for Dismissal. Both Respondents, in support of their respective Motions, filed supporting memoranda, in which they argued the effect of Section 78-12-28(2), Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). The Appellants, in opposition to these two Motions, filed two memoranda, in which they argued that the statute of limitations was not a bar. In neither of the two memoranda filed by the Appellants was the Respondents' failure to plead the specific statute ever

raised. Nor was this issue raised through any other pleading or motion placed before the lower court. The first time that the Respondents were confronted with Rule 9(h) was upon receipt of the Appellants' Brief.

The Appellants failure to raise, before the lower court, the issue of the Respondents' defective pleadings constitutes a waiver of that defense. Utah cases are clear on this point. In the case of Attorney General of Utah v. Pomerow, 93 Utah 426, 73 P.2d 1277, 1300 (1937) the Utah Supreme Court, when reviewing the Respondent's failure to plead, by section and subdivision number, the specific statute of limitation upon which he was relying, held that: